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THERE ARE four churches in Frome and
St. John’s is the one with the steeple, half-
way up the hill which takes holiday traffic
out southward. The town itself has grown
around the church which was founded as a
mission station (in Selwood Forest) by St
Aldhelm, abbot of Malmesbury, sometime
between 675 and 695. The monks chose
the site because of the abundant supply of
pure water which breaks out as springs
from the hillside and one of these (now
piped) runs west of the church and then
(openly) down the centre of Cheap Street
towards the Market Place.

Of this church, which lasted for 500
gears, only a single stone can be identified,
y a_pair_of entwined dragons carved on
its side. This was built Into an earlier
squint in the base of the tower in the 19th
century, when an arch was cut through the
northern, inward-facing, wall.

A doorway and the curve of a window
remain from the 12th century rebuilding,
leading now from the Baptistry to the Lady
Chapel, but then from the churchyard. The
lower-part of the tower and the east end of
the nave date from the 13th century. An
abrupt change of style shows where the
western half of the nave was added a cen-
tury later. Similarly, the upper part of the
spiral staircase is anti-clockwise while the
lower part is clockwise and shows where
the tower was made higher, with a spire,
in the 15th century.

By the 18th century the springs under
the church were causing trouble, and the
building seemed in danger of slipping down
the hill. Nothing was done till the second
half of the 19th century when, under Vicar
Bennett, nearly the whole church (but not
the tower) was pulled down and rebuilt in
similar style but on a stronger foundation.

The churchwardens’ accounts, beginning
in 1567, show there were five bells but none
of these remain, although the metal may be
the same. The 4th and 5th are dated 1624,
the earliest known remaining bells made by
John Lott, of Warminster. The 5th was re-
cast once, but the 4th (the old fore-bell)
was recast no fewer than four times in
those 57 years. Three unsuccessful attempts
were by the Purdue family (plain “Purdye”
in 1586), William Purdye the Younger in
1597, at Frome, and Richard Purdie in
1616, at Edington, when he was probably
doing work for the Priory. The sum of
20s. 6d. was paid for “4 da%s expenses for
ourselves and our cattel when the Treble
was carried to casting”. The distance tra-
velled by the ox-team over the hilly, muddy
road was five miles per day.

John Lott used very much the same de-
coration as the Purdue family—flat sheet-
metal lettering, a bell between his initials
as trade-mark and the running vine, and
even a copy of the big Prince-of-Wales
feathers device with CP on it (Carolus
Princeps, not G P for George Purdue, as is
suggested in “Church Bells of Wiltshire”).
It Is possible he learned his craft from the
Purdues.

The fourth proclaims proudly “I am hee
for John Lott made mee”, and the tenor is
his bell, too, dated 1662. He had two at-
tempts at recasting it, the second one lasting
ten times longer than the first. Its weight,
by tradition, was 36 cwts, and there was
great consternation amongst the local
ringers when Gillett and Johnston, rehang-
ing the bells in 1937, estimated it to weig
only 31 cwts. Some weight must have been
lost with the removal of the canons. Nowa-
days it is considered by size and note (C
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sharpL to be nearer 30 cwts. The 7th, re-
cast by John Lott with the other two in
1632, was cast again by Robert Wells, of
Aldebourne, in 1792.

A bell given to augment the five in 1684
does not record the founder, but it could
have been made by Lewis Cockey, the
father (or uncle) of William Cockey, living
in Frome at that time. The “Church Bells
of Wiltshire” gives Lewis Cockey as a
Bristol founder on the strength of an entry
in the Yatton churchwardens’ accounts, but
he could be another with the same name.
The L C bell at Farleigh Hungerford, in
1681, is quite different in style from the
others and was made by the old waist-bell
method. Lewis Cockey’s L (bell) C trade-
mark and style of lettering suggest he may
have learned from John Lott. The 1684
bell had to be recast by William Bilbie, of
Chewstoke, in 1788 (after William Cockey's
death).

The two trebles, made by William
Cockey, were added in 1724, the gift of an
unknown donor. It is thought that a new
wooden frame was installed in the mid-19th
century, and it is this frame which is caus-
ing the trouble now. Though the timbers
are sound the joints have worked loose and
the nuts on the metal ties which were added
later in an attempt to steady it have rusted
solid. Wedges driven in between the upper
part of the frame and the tower fortunately
seem to have done no damage and are
ineffective. This movement of the frame
makes the bells unpredictable when ringing,
particularly in dry weather, and in wet wea-
ther the stiffening ropes do not fall as ex-
pected after a complicated journey through
guides and chutes.

There was a clock in 1567, when records
begin, and some of its wheels are probably
incorporated in the present clock (restored
by Singer of Frome in 1868). In 1637 there
was some sort of a chime and in 1760 the
113th Psalm from Ripon’s selection was
played. After two additions to the tunes,
the present carillon was installed by Gillett
and Johnston in 1922. Both clock and
carillon are in working order but they do
not operate as the wiring to the hammers
has become unsafe. During a practice in
1963 a wire holding the clock-hammer
broke as the clock struck. The bell hit the
hammer through the wheel of the 5th, rip-
ping half of it away. Inspection showed
other wires ready to break and springs so
weak that the hammers were resting on the
bells. The unsafe parts were dismantled
and the clock and chimes silenced till
money could be raised for an overhaul. As
the frame also needed attention it seemed
best to leave matters until new hammers
could be fixed to the new frame. Frome
ringers have launched an appeal for £4,000
for the rehanging of the bells in a steel
frame and for the restoration of the clock
and chimes.

Although the bells are not the easiest to
ring, there have been 27 peals on them.
The first was Stedman Triples in 1890 with
the Rev. F. E. Robinson as conductor.
There were seven peals of triples before
1937 when the bells were rehung on ball-
bearings and for all but two, two men al-
ways rang the tenor. The stalwarts were J.
H. Shepherd (in 1907), after rehanging by
Lewellyns and James, and S. J. Hector of
Trowbridge (in 1919). The tenor was first
turned in by A. P. Cannon (to Double
Norwich) on New Year’s Eve, 1938, Nolan
Golden conducting, and 15 years later J. T.
Dyke conducted a peal of Cambridge with
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E. J. Chivers on the tenor. Since then there
have been 19 other peals, 11 with the tenor
turned in, but no-one has attempted it twice.
Of the 15 conductors George Massey has
nine to his credit and has rung in 12 peals.

In the total of 27 peals, 11 have been of
major, 16 of triples and 136 ringers have
taken part. The fastest peal (triples) was
rung on Boxingi Day, 1956 (3 hours 2 mins.),
the slowest (also triples) six months later
(3 hours 27 mins.), the bells being half-
muffled in memory of W. Flower, ringer at
St. John’s for 53 years.

The last peal with two on the tenor
(1930) included W. H. Mills, who rang for
the relief of Ladysmith and Mafeking, and
now at 88 still rings regularly for service.

The bells were kept rinfging during the
First World War and were fired when peace
was declared. They were kept ringing for
the Second World War (until stopped) and
the ringers practised jangling them as air-
raid alarm. Until the Second World War
the Curfew was rung each night at 8 p.m.
and the bells used to be rung onl¥ on the
first Sunday of each month and for festi-
vals. Later this was increased to first and
third Sundays and then to every Sunday,
and always for evensong. Now service
ringing is at 8.15 a.m. for family Eucharist
(at 9 am.) and for evensong only on festi-
val occasions.

To raise £4,000 is the formidable task
that the ringers have accepted, for the
Church has many other problems. In addi-
tion to skittles at the fete and an open da
and exhibition in the tower, Orchardleig
Park and Gardens will be open to the pub-
lic on Bank Holida%/ Monday (August 31st)
and it is hoped to have Frank Mack’s very
light ring of six available. There will be a
handbell concert and community singing
evening on September 19th and Christmas
cards (depicting a very fine pen-and-ink
drawing of the Church) will shortly be on
sale, price 9d. Please watch the “Ringing
World” for all details.

Donations to the Bell Fund should be
sent to the secretary, R. Baker, 5, Cranmore
View, Frome, or direct to the Westminster
Bank, Market Place, Frome.

(Bell inscriptions on page 607.)
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900 YEARS OF WORSHIP

ALTON (HAMPSHIRE) RINGERS JOIN

IN CELEBRATIONS

Four years after the Norman Conquest a church was built in Alton (Hampshire)

and dedicated to St. Lawrence.

Nine-hundred years later —in 1970 — celebrations are

taking place in this delightful country town with its melodious ring of eight (tenor 18
cwt.) and socials, concerts, recitals, musical festivals with visiting societies, and son et
lumiere have been or are taking place. A great deal of organisation and hard work has
had to be done, and the local ringers, under their captain (Mr. Rex Corke) and hon.
secretary/treasurer (Mr. Clive Chennell-White), have played a part—a very large part

—in all the activities.

The Rev. D. L.
Couper (Vicar of
Alton), Mr. Rex

Corke (captain), Mr.
Clive Chennell-White
(secretary), Mrs.
Gladys Munsey
(Peterborough), Rev.
P. W. Gallup (Buri-
ton) and Mr. John
Euston (St. Mar-

garet’s, Westminster).
[R.W. photo.

Special ringing, quarter-peals, interchange
of bands with towers in the area, have
been organised and successes reported in
the R.W. The culmination of these ringing
festivities was on July 18 with a programme
(well advertised and “circulated) arranged to
suit the many visitors expected from a wide
area. Lunch was booked at a local hotel
near the church and tea laid on. Tickets
were printed to enable numbers to be esti-
mated, and the organist and choirmaster
volunteered to pla?]/ and for his full choir
to attend to lead the singing. The preacher
at the service (Rev. P. W. Gallup) travelled
up from Buriton (Petersfield), the Vicar
(Rev. D. L. Couper) conducting the service,
which was bright and interesting.

WHAT WENT WRONG?

The fact that ringers generally are un-
predictable, particularly in supporting meet-
ings, practices and festivals, has often been
stated, and this was emphasised in no small
degree on this occasion. Whilst it is believed
that ringing did take place at many of the

churches whose incumbents had loaned
their bells for given periods, only five sat
down to lunch (including three local

ringers), 15 attended the service (two being
in the choir and four locals) whilst 12 sat
down to tea (four locals, the Vicar, the
preacher and six visitors).

To say that the Alton ringers were dis-
appointed is an understatement. Any church
celebrating an anniversary expects to be
supported locally, for it is a special event
for parishioners. Alton has no cause to
complain on this count, but it was rather a
“let-down” for bellringin?.

However, at tea, a delightful meal with
a great variety of edibles, Mr. Corke wel-
comed the visitors, particularly Mrs. Gladys
Munsey who had travelled down especially
for the occasion from Peterborough, and
Mr. Jack Euston, of St. Margaret’s, West-
minster. He also thanked all who had
helped in any way to organise and take
part in the arrangements, and commiserated
with Mr. Chennell-White on the disappoint-
ing support after so much hard work.

_The Vicar spoke of the excellent work of
his own ringers and invited those present
tolgttend son et lumiere during September

The Rev. P. W. Gallup, who is the dis-
trict chairman for Alton and Petersfield
area, in his address emphasised the part
bellringers play in the worship of God,
quoting from the Book of the Revelations
“And theP/ rest not day nor night, sin%ing
Holy, holy, holy”. The worship of Go
goes on all over the world at all times, he
said, and bellringers take a part—an im-
portant part—in that worship. It was not
the 18 cwts. of bell metal that gave praise
but the spirit of the ringer, each holding
a rope, which in a unique way added a
little to the worship of the world’s Creator.

1971 CENTRAL COUNCIL MEETING:
LEAMINGTON SPA

The general secretary of the Coventry
Diocesan Guild has sent us the following
information:—

“At last | can let you know that the
Central Council meeting will be held at
Leamington Spa in 1971. We have arranged
for the headquarters to be the Regent
Hotel, and to have the Civic Reception in
the Royal Pump Rooms, Leamington, with
the meeting in the Town Hall.

“We made three attempts to secure a head-
quarters for the Council. The first was
all arranged some 12 months ago, but when
we arrived at llkley Mr. Perrens produced
a telegram, received the day before, sayin
that the arrangements could not be carrie
out bK the hotel concerned. We set out
on a hotel hunt on the day we returned to
Coventry, and tried again with another
hotel in a different town, only to be told,
when we wrote to confirm our verbal ar-
rangements, that they “could not cope.”
The third try, in Leamington, produced
very satisfactory results, and we look for-
ward to the best-ever Central Council meet-
ing in 1971”

[Thank you, Coventry.—Ed.]
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AN ABBEY OCCASION

To many who visit Westminster Abbey,
the memories taken away are marred by the
jostling masses of tourists straining to
catch snatches of history from their guides
above the sounds of shuffling feet and the
murmur of many tongues.

To the privileged few who were invited
there on the evening of Tuesday, July 7,
the scene was very different. The Dean
and Chapter had graciously decided to
commemorate the 400th year of the White-
chapel Bell Foundry and their own associa-
tion with the foundry since 1583. To this
end the foundry staff and members of the
Abbey ringers, with their wives, assembled
in the cloisters and were led into Henry
VII’s Chapel, where at 6.30 p.m. a service
of thanksgiving and Holy Communion was
conducted by the Dean, assisted by two
Minor Canons.

After this moving service in a most his-
toric setting, the Dean and Dr. Carpenter
acted as guides and took the company on
a tour of the Abbey. Seeing the building
in the stillness of a summer evening, bereft
of the multitudes, and with the westering
sun streaming through the great windows
was an experience none will forget.

After listening with rapt attention to the
fascinating narratives given by the Dean
and Dr. Carpenter, the party retired to St
Katharine’s Chapel garden, where cool and
nourishing refreshments were laid before
them.

A set of ten handbells was presented to
the Dean by the brothers Hughes, and after
thanking the foundry for the gift the Dean
called on Mr. Pitstow, who arranged bands
for a touch of Grandsire Caters and three
leads of Kent Major. The ringers also en-
tertained the company with some tune-
ringing and as the echo of the bells and the
lengthening shadows of the setting sun
drifted across the lawn, there was borne in
on the minds of all present the realisation
that they had been participants in a rare
occasion, delightfully English and ex-
clusively “Abbey.”

FIFTY PEALS AT BARNES

Some interesting facts concerning peals
at Barnes have emerged. The bells were
augmented to eight in 1887 by the addition
of "five new bells. The three old bells were
dated 1575, 1616 and 1667, and the 1575
one was cast by Mott of the Whitechapel
Foundry and is the fifth of the present ring.
The first peal Plain Bob Major (conducted
by W. T. Elsom) was not rung until
December 12, 1903, and the 25th 63 years
later, on March 5, 1967. However, the
next 25 took only three years, the 50th
peal being rung on May 23 this year ! The
increase Is mainly due to the enthusiasm
and support of the present rector (Rev.
Basil Whitnorth).

The first peal of Surprise was Bristol on
December 27, 1910, conducted by William
Pye, and it took 56 years for the next,
Cambridge, conducted by Robin Leale. Al-
toeether 26 methods have been rung on the
bells to peals, Plain Bob Major beinP the
most pooular (with nine), closely followed
by Yorkshire (with eight). Included in the
total are 14 different Surprise, two of
Delight methods, and the record length of
Lincolnshire

The leading association is Surrey (with
18). followed by London Countv (with 11)
and Middlesex (with 10). Other associa-
tions which have rung reals at Barnes are
the Ancient Order of College Youths.
Royal Cumberland Youths. University of
| ondon. Kent. All Saints’, Fulham, and St.
Mary Abbots Societies.
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A SHORT TRIP TO SCOTLAND

There are really only three requirements
for a ringing trip to Scotland—reliable cars,
reliable ropes (minimum 10) and at least
13 willing ringers. The result was that in
early surf/imer these three ingredients were
found proceeding from various parts of
Somerset en route for Edinburgh and a
week’s tour of Scotland. ,

Our first stop was at Leyland to ring for
a wedding, but they had forgotten us, and
we reflected rather sadly on local memories
before making tracks for the heavy eight
at Lancaster Priory, where springy ropes
made handling tricky. We stayed over-
nigiht at Penrith, after first visiting Great
Salkeld, our only six of the week.

An invitation to ring at Penrith’s early
service on Sunday was eagerly accepted
before we reverted to the programme and
rang at Harraby, near Carlisle, for Matins.
With motorway-type roads, the journey to
Edinburgh was accomplished without in-
cident, and we signed in at our H.Q. for
the week. The party was cordially wel-
comed at Fettes College by Mr. Cole Hamil-
ton, the second master. The lightest five
in the U.K. proved quite a test to aspiring
treble ringers and seasoned tenor ringers
alike, but creditable 120’ were rung before
a sensitive lower in peal. Evensong ringing
was at Leith, and those who stayed to the
service were treated to a ringers’ sermon
(not to mention coffee at the Rectory after-
wards).

DUNDEE’'S TWO TOWERS

Dundee was our goal on Monday, and
after journeying through Fife via the Forth
and Tay bridges we arrived at the Epis-
copal Cathedral of St. Paul and spent a
pleasant hour on the bells. A complaint
from a nearby office was received in the
record time of five minutes, but the mes-
sendger departed somewhat reassured when
told we were staying only for a short time.
Despite all efforts and copious correspon-
dence, permission to ring at the Old Steeple
was not forthcoming, but Ron Short’s per-
sistence finally achieved success, and at
2 o’clock the municipal guardians arrived
with the key and we were able to enjoy
a good hour’s ringing on what must un-
doubtedly be one of the best maintained
eights in Scotland. We left the city and
visited Perth on the way home.

Tuesday saw the cars heading westward
to Argyll and we arrived at Cairndow to
a very warm welcome by Mrs. Noble (wife
of the M.P. for the county), who showed
us round the gardens and woods of the
estate. As the chairman of the recently-
formed Friends of Inveraray Bells, her en-
thusiasm is unbounded, and the attractive
brochure with its coloured frontispiece that
has been produced is ringing publicity at
its best. We drove to the town for lunch,
and afterwards fitted ropes, paying tribute
to the hard work which Norman Chaddock
and his team had done. Ringing included
Caters and Royal, Double Norwich on the
backleight, and finished with a memorable
fall on the eight. Amongst the visitors
who watched was the present heir to the
Duke of Argyll, the Marquis of Lome, and
we were delighted to hear of his stron
support for the bells and for the wor
being done at the tower.

DUNBLANE PRAISED

Wednesday was a “towergrab,” with no
fewer than four towers on the programme!
At Alloa Harry Glover and two of his lady
ringers joined us, and we were grateful to
the locals for giving up their weekly prac-
tice to allow us to ring. There are in-
evitable complaints if the normal quota is
exceeded. Dunblane Cathedral was next,

and inquiries about the weatherbeaten

ualities of the nave pillars revealed that
the building was roofless for 300 years, but
was restored in the 19th century. Despite
the dark belfry (and a degree of odd-
struckness) the 24 cwt. eight have a fine
tone. The Cathedral contains some of the
best wood carving in the British Isles, which
visitors should not miss.

In Edinburgh we were welcomed at the
Cathedral by Miss Benson, and if the cat-
walk did not appeal to everyone, the belfry
interior must be unique for its collection of
old prints and plaster casts of bells, not
to mention the telephone. Sad to relate,
the fall was marred by a clapper breaking
on the 5th. Good ringing was enjoyed at
St. Cuthberts, where Mr. R. S. Wilson, the
Scottish general secretary met us, and
joined us for a course of Cambridge. We
enjoyed the best of both worlds here for
those not ringing were able to sit out on
the roof in the warm sunshine and admire
the views of the castle and the city around

Thursday took us to Inverness, the most
northerly eight in the British Isles. Earlier
talk of driving up had been abandoned in
favour of the railway, and it was pleasant to
enjoy the relaxation of a ride through the
mountains, with views of the snow-capped
Cairngorms and Grampians and marvel at
the tenacity of the engineers who drove the
line through to Inverness in those far off
days. St. Andrew’s Cathedral is situated
alongside the River Ness, and we found
this Warner eight a little difficult to strike
well but it was good to hear that these
bells are kept ringing by a local band, con-
sidering their isolated position.

Friday saw the party at Glasgow Cathe-
dral, where we met Magnus Peterson, who
was a great help in planning the tour. The
bells are an extremely good Taylor ten, of
early 20th century vintage, and those wait-
ing on the stairs were well placed to hear a
good touch of Grandsire Caters. Our other
tower was at Paisley but the acoustics
made hearing difficult; the tape recording
told a very different story and proved them
a fine mellow eight.

We left Edinburgh on Saturday morning,
enjoying splendid motoring and a feast
of scenery over Cheviot and Pennine. The
200 miles to York slid away and although
the Minster is again in splints, the bells are
happily still ringable. Harold Walker
guided us through the scaffolding to the
ringing chamber, to enable some of us to
ring on our heaviest 12 (apart from Exeter).
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East Grinstead and District Guild.
A VARIED PROGRAMME

The meeting on July 11 was advertised as
being at Newdigate, and as members
raised the bells the incumbent arrived and
asked us to stop as he was holding an
old people’s party, which included a display
of country dancing and they were unable
to hear the music because of the bells ! He
also explained that he had been in the
parish for only one week, and his pre-
decessor had not informed him of the
meeting.  With the use of his phone the
vice-chairman arranged that we might have
the use of Rusper bells, and a note having
been left for latecomers we moved over
there. We were met by a local ringer, who
told us that he was going to start teaching
local girls at 7 p.m.

However, after some ringing, members
had tea at a fete on the Rectory lawn, and
the business meeting was held in the recrea-
tion grtpund. One new member Was elected. A
collection was made for thp rope fund, and
the chairman announced that the meeting in
August would be held at Speldhurst, and
at the September meeting we would join
the Croydon festival. Provisional arrange-
ments have been made to hold the Novem-
ber meeting at East Grinstead.

A %ame of cricket followed, using an old
branch as a bat, and, later, members ad-
journed to the Star nearby, where dominoes,
shove-ha’penny, darts and bar billiards were
played. R.j. E.

The ten at Pontefract followed, and here
Brig. Young made a presentation to Ron
Short on behalf of the party, thanking him
for his hard work in arranging the trip,
which Ron acknowledged with his cus-
tomary modesty. Doncaster was our last
tower of the day, and after an overnight
stop at Chesterfield the tour ended with
service ringing at Ruddington (a recently
Lehung Taylor eight) just outside Notting-
am.

It remains only to say thank you, Scot-
land, for your warm welcome and hos-
pitality and your excellent bells.

The party: Ron Short, Eddie Dibble and
Cecil Clarke (Bridgwater), John Brain.
Stuart Brown, Len Derrick and Geoff and
Eleanor Marchant (Chew Branch), R.
Perry (Farmborough), Brig Young (Wivelis-
combe), Mike Bartlett, Chris and Sheila
Jenkins (Wells) and Geoff Pullin (on loan
to Kent).

CHURCH CLOCKS

NEW CLOCKS

ALL TYPES OF REPAIRS

ELECTRIC CONVERSION OF WEIGHT CLOCKS

As at St. Pauj’s Cathedral,

Norwich Cathedral, Durham Cathedral,

Bath Abbey, Southwell Minster, Sherborne Abbey, St. Mary Redcliffe
Bristol, Bungay, Baldock, Barmouth, Trowell, Knaresborough, King’s

Lynn St.

Margaret's and Higham Ferrers Churches,

and over 300

other public docks all over the British Isles.

Specialists in Clock Hammer Work in
connection with Bell Restorations :

WILLIAM POTTS & SONS,

Dial
SMITH DERBY
POTTS LEEDS
JOYCE Whitchurch

Restoration

JOHN SMITH & SONS,

J. B. JOYCE & CO,,

Maintenance

Queen St. Derby
Phone 45569

Bankfield Terrace, Leeds 4

(the original Leeds firm, Manager R. H. Dove)

Phone 52757

Station Road, Whitchurch,
Salop Phone 2817
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Ebituary

ALEC HOWELL

On June 25 the Stroud Branch of the
Gloucester and Bristol Association was
robbed of one of its best-loved brother
ringers by the death, at the early age of 58,
of Alec Howell.

Alec was born in Woodchester and
learned to ring at St. Mary’s Church at a
very early age, which is remarkable, for he
lost his sight when he was seven.

He was a fine ringer and a good con-
ductor, and in 1958 conducted a touch for
the B.B.C. programme “Christmas Bells.”
He also conducted peals and quarters.

A welcome attraction to the annual
Randwick handbell festival, he played a
small carillon which he built himself.

Alec moved to Stonehouse and became
tower captain at St. Cyr’s. It was here that
he was laid to rest when the funeral took
place on June 30, and four of his brother
ringers acted as bearers.

The service was conducted by the vicar

(Rev. Lionel Ford), who paid tribute to
and gave thanks for the life of Alec
Howell, making special mention of the

large congregation, which showed how
greatly he was esteemed.

The vicar spoke of how Alec made light
of his affliction of blindness and what an
inspiration he was to all who knew him.

Alec Howell was laid gently and rever-
ently to rest in the shadow of the church
to which he was devoted and within tha
sound of the bells that he loved. Of the
many beautiful wreaths, one is worthy of
mention.  Bell-shaped, it was from the
young ringers of St. Cyrs, whom he
taught so well and who thought so highly

Half-muffled quarter peals were rung at
St. Cyr’s, Stonehouse, and St. Lawrence’s,
Stroud, and the bells of St. John the Bap-
tist, Randwick, and St. Mary’s, Wood-
chester, were also rung.

“May God grant him peace eternal,
may Light perpetual shine upon him.”

and

MRS. ROSE E. MAY

The funeral of Mrs. Rose E. May, for
many years secretary and treasurer of the
Liss, Hampshire, ringers, took place on
July 6 at St. Mary’, Liss. The service was
conducted by the rector (Rev. N. Barnett).
During the interment of the ashes Liss
handbell team rang hymn tunes, and open
ringing on the tower bells foIIowed Liss
ringers and representatives of other local
towers taking part in a quarter of Doubles.

Although never reaching great heights in
the art, Mrs. May was an example in her
devotion to her church and to her duties as
a member of the Sunday service band. Her
popularity in the village life was shown in
the number of people attending the funeral
service. May she rest in peace. D. M. H.

MR. R. W. WORRALL

Members of the Northwich Branch and
other members of the Chester Diocesan
Guild were greatly saddened by the untimely
death of Mr. R. W. Worrall, tower captain
at Hartford. He died suddenly at his home
on June 20, and the funeral service took
Blace at Hartford on June 24. The six
ells were rung half-muffled by his friends
from surrounding towers.

Reg Worrall was born in the shadow
of Great Budworth Church and it was
natural that he should take up ringing. He

Swansea and Brecon Guild.
A LADY MASTER

Between 40 and 50 attended the 42nd
annual festival at Brecon on Jul¥ 4, and
the majority of members were from the
Southern District. Ringing arrangements
included Llanfeigan, St. David’, Llanfaes,
and St. Mary’s, Brecon, and the service,
which was fully choral, was held in the
Cathedral.  Attending the service at the
same time were members of the West Wales
Organists’ Association, who were holding
their meeting in Brecon the same day. The
preacher was the Rev. David P. Davies, of
Lampeter, who based his sermon on “One
Part of a Whole” (a combination of parts).
The Bishop, Dr. J. J. A. Thomas, pro-
nounced the Blessing.

Tea was kindly provided by the Dean
(Dr. D. W. W. Jacob) in the schoolroom.

The business meeting followed, and the
Bishop, who presided, thanked the Dean for
provi |ng the tea. The hon. secretary, in
his report, said it was not a happy one, and
then gave a list of towers that were still
silent.  Something must be done in this
matter, he said, and monthly practices
should be organlsed in each of these towers,
for missionary work is certainly the answer.
The annual ringing competition was can-
celled because of lack of interest, and this
was a blow to the guilds progress, as in
the past the competition proved beneficial.
Mr. C. N. Wedgwood, the newly-elected
hon. secretary (Northern District) was doing
his best to organise and create more in-
terest. On a more cheerful note, the
Southern District was improving both in
membership and ringing.

ELECTION OF OFFICERS

Miss Susan Jackson, a very capable ringer
and instructor, was elected master, and the
other officers were all re-elected. The an-
nual report was discussed, but the printing
was left until it was known how many
copies would be required. The 1971 annual
festival will be held in Swansea, the date to
be given later. Miss Jackson proposed the
affiliation of the Swansea University Guild
to the Swansea and Brecon Guild, and this
was agreed unanimously.

The hon. secretary was instructed to
send a letter to Mr. W. J. Thomas expres-
sing the members’ best wishes for a speedy
recovery from his recent illness. The meet-
ing closed with prayer. J. A H.

started to ring in 1923 at the age of 17 and
was taught by the late John Holden; from
then on ringing became his only serious
hobby.

Before the last war Reg was a member oi
a group of enthusiasts, which included
among others Albert Booth, Harry Howard
and Harry Parker. They were anxious to
increase their ringing skill and cycled to as
many meetings as they could. In 1951 Reg
became tower captain at Hartford and was
chairman of the branch from 1952 to 1954.
He spent most of his working life in Local
Government and brought his professional
skills to the service of the branch as sec-
retary and treasurer from 1958 to 1963,
leaving immaculate accounts and minutes as
a memorial to his period in that office. He
had rung well over 100 peals but only 99
for the Chester Guild. It was his ambition
to ring a peal of London Surprise Major
as his 100th peal for the guild.

Reg was a skilful ringer, and for this he
will be sorely missed in a small branch, but
he will also be remembered as a very kmdly
man who would suddenly produce gifts of
sweets for children, or flowers for a sick
friend, and for his devotion to his invalid
wife. To her and their son, Raymond, we
offer our sympathy in their grief.
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Leicester Guild.
SUMMER QUARTERLY MEETING

The summer quarterly meeting of the
Leicester Guild was held at Bottesford on
June 20. Towers open were at Lon
Clawson, Hose Harby, Granby, Orston an
Bottesford, Erogbramme which  took
ringers throu h t eautiful Vale of Bel-
voir in excellent summer weather.

After the service at Bottesford tea was
provided in the village hall by the Melton
District ladies.

Mr. John Bramley (president) welcomed
the company, which included visitors from
London, Dublin, Kettering, Nottingham and
Peterborough

The meeting stood in silence in memory
of two members, Mr. Horace Over (Hug-
glescote; and Mrs. Joyce Wright (Groby).

The election of 18 ringing members and
13 non-resident life members was confirmed
and ten certificates of membership were
presented.

Arrangements for the dinner in Sep-
tember were announced, as was the festival
on May 15 next gear to mark the breaking
up of the old Midland Counties Association.

A letter had been sent to the Bishop of
Leicester, expressing the concern of the

uild for the future of the bells of St. John
the Divine, Leicester, and requesting that
the guild be kept informed of any develop-
ments.

The date of the guild striking competi-
tion was given out and will be held at
Countesthorpe. The next quarterly meeting
will be held in the Loughborough district
in October

Mr. Brlan Warwick (C.C. representative)
gave a brief report on the meeting at
lkley. . o

Mr. Paul Taylor spoke of his visit to
Australia and told of the excellent hos-
pitality he had enjoyed there. He then
proposed a hearty vote of thanks to all who
had worked so hard to make the meeting

Mr. Warwick informed the meeting that
a suggestion had been made that Bottesford
be transferred to the Southwell Guild be-
cause more support came from “over the
border.” The matter had been fully dis-
cussed and it had been decided that this
tower should remain in the Leicester Guild,
although co-operation between bordering
towers of neighbouring guilds was a very
good thing. .

Further™ ringing took place under Mr.
Roland Cook until 8.30 p.m. R. D. H.

SalisbuIrDy Guild
AY’S RINGING PLANNED

On July 4, a fine and pleasant afternoon,
the quarterly meeting of the West Dorset
Branch was held at Evershot, home tower
of the ringing master (Mr. H. D. W.
Bishop), who took charge of the ringing.
The guild service was conducted by the
vicar (Rev. P. J. Helyer) and the organist
was Mr. D. Ellery.

A most welcome tea was prepared and
given by the local ringers and their lees
in the village hall. The chairman (Mr. C.
W. Powell) presided at the business meeting,
and the members expressed appreciation to
the hon. secretary and his wife (Mr. and
Mrs. J. Davis) for all the arrangements and
catering for the euild festival and also to
the ladies who helped.

The next meeting is at Lyme Reeis in
Sentember. and nlans for a day’s ringing
were put in hand for October.

Two new members from Lyme Reeis
were elected, and 14 methods were rung
during the afternoon and evening. J. D.
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A “HAPPENING” AT KINGSWOOD

Sunday, July 5, was Belfry “Open Day”
at Kingswood, Surrey, and the tower was
open to interested parishioners so that they
had the opportunity to meet the ringers, to
see the “works” and to find out what bell-
ringing is all about! Ringing started at
8.45 a.m. for Sung Eucharist, followed by
normal ringing at 10.30 a.m., a ringers-
family service taking the place of Matins.
It was attended by the Guides and their
captain, Miss Janet Jesson (who is also a
ringer), read the lesson.

A large number of Sunday School mem-
bers were present and provided a band of
six to illustrate on handbells some of the
noises emanating Sunday by Sunday from
the belfry. Demonstrated were rounds,
Queens, Whittingtons and Tittums, and (at
very short notice) plain hunting ! The cap-
tain of the tower (Mr. Bernard Hawkins)
gave a short accompanying explanation.
The vicar (Rev. E. G. Ashford) concen-
trated his address on the message of the
bells and said that the message depended
solely (or soully) on the person on the end
of the rope.

Displayed in church were posters on
aspects of ringing (including the Surrey
Association), ellcasting, The Ringing
World, Dove, and Kingswood Outing, 1970.
An excellent one on being a beginner was
by the latest recruit, Alan Veness. Through-
out the day parties of parishioners and their
families were escorted up the tower, given
a short explanation of the mechanics of
bell-handling, and use was made of the
tower bells and a delightful model (loaned
by Peter Ford, of Leatherhead), which it
was possible to ring. Further showings
were of call changes and change ringing,
followed by ascent to the bell chamber and
to the top of the tower.

Over 100 signed the visitors’ book and
we were pleased to welcome four ringers
from the Southampton area and one from
Toddington (Beds). A quarter peal of Plain
Bob Minor was brought round for Even-
song and a final tour took place afterwards.
I can only conclude that the day was an
enormous success and goes to prove how
interested the “natives” are when given the
opportunity. The most common comment
was to remark how very much more was
involved than had been imagined.

Out of the day we gained a large amount
of interest and goodwill (and a learner or
two?) and we say: “Go to it everybody!
The public are itching to be educated and
you might even gain some ringers ! ” B. H.

Bath and Wells Association.
HEARTY CO-OPERATION

On July 4 the llchester Branch held their
monthly practice meeting at St. Catherine’s,
Drayton.

Despite holidays, local fetes and outm?
there was a good attendance, and especially
was it pleasing to have such an excellent
turn-out of Drayton ringers, led by their
tower master (Mr. John Stone). Ringin
at this tower has revived enormously, an
the Sunday service band ring at least once
every Sunday.

The branch ringing master (Mr. Gordon
Rendell) was in charge, and the pleasant
ground-floor 8 (22 cwt.) was put to good
use during the evening in a variety of
methods, call changes and rounds.

The members are grateful to the Seques-
trators for permission to use the bells, also
to the tower master and the Drayton ringers
for their hearty co-operation in making
such a pleasant evening possible. M. M. L.

UNFORTUNATE OCCURRENCE,
IF TRUE

Dear Sir,— As people’s warden for the
parlsh of Preston, Brighton, | feel it my

éy to write concerning a disgraceful epi-

e at St. Peter’s Church, Preston, on a
recent Saturday.

I am informed by the Vicar that
young men swung St. Peter’s bells “ full
circle”, expressly against his wishes. The
had been told that the tower and bells
were unsuitable for this, but proceeded to
endanger themselves and the church fabric
after a parishjoner had allowed them entry.

Some years ago the Diocesan Architect
had advised against ringing “full circle”
owing to the dangerous state of the stone-
work.

I am informed that such insolent and
dangerous behaviour is not uncommon in
this JJart of the country and therefore
would like to use your columns to bring
this matter to a wider attention. — Yours

faithfully, L. S. GRENFELL

three

Brighton, Sussex.

AN ALLEGATION

Dear Sir,—I refer to a letter by Mr. R.
H. Dove on page 170 (March 6) of The
Ringing World.

He suggests that the appointment of
honorary members of the Central Council
is a question of patronage rather than merit
—that they are not democratically elected.

This is strong language, and | am sur-
prised that no-one has written to deny—
or confirm—this allegation. Can | assume
that this allegation is correct?

Incidentally, | should be very interested
to learn why Mr. Dove has not been made
a member of the Council. After all, every
serious ringer must use his Guide at some
time or other. Isn’t it time that Mr. Dove’s
labour of love was recognised by the Exer-
cise through honorary membership of the
Council?—Yours faithfully,

G. D. ARMITAGE.

Harrogate, Yorks.

GOSPEL OAK

Dear Sir,—May | thank your correspon-
dents, Messrs. Newman and Harwin, for
their continued interest in the bells of
Gospel Oak, and for their kinds words of
encouragement.

But it would be wrong of me to accept
this praise personally, as | live near the
church and generally attend morning ser-
vice there anyway. No, the real thanks
for keeping these bells ringing should go
to those people who travel several miles,
usually by public transport (not the easiest
way of getting about London on a Sunday
morning), often after ringing at their home
towers—people like Keith and Diana Trip-
low, David and Dianne Gazeley, Roger
Tompsett and Susan Shaw.

As the almost total redevelopment of
the Gospel Oak area proceeds, it is to be
hoped that one of the few “constants”
during this period of radical social change
will continue to be the sound of Gospel

Oak bells. And let us hope that when the
community settles down again a local band
may be formed to continue the tradition

so ably started by the people mentioned by
vour correspondents.—Yours faithfully,
WALTER KNIGHT.
London, N.W.

July 31, 1970

GRATEFULLY ACKNOWLEDGED

Dear Sir,—Further to my letter on page
290 of your issue No. 3,077 dated April 19,
1970, we have now completed the second
quarter of 1970, and your readers may be
interested in the following figures. These
are again based on 12 issues, commencing
with April 3, 1970, and ending with June 26,
1970, but omitting the issue of June 19,
1970 as this did not incl